

The role of mathematical modelling in understanding the epidemiology and control of sheep transmissible spongiform encephalopathies: a review

Simon Gubbins, Suzanne Touzeau, Thomas J. Hagenaars

▶ To cite this version:

Simon Gubbins, Suzanne Touzeau, Thomas J. Hagenaars. The role of mathematical modelling in understanding the epidemiology and control of sheep transmissible spongiform encephalopathies: a review. Veterinary Research, 2010, 41 (4), 10.1051/vetres/2010014. hal-00903169

HAL Id: hal-00903169

https://hal.science/hal-00903169

Submitted on 11 May 2020

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Copyright

Vet. Res. (2010) 41:42 DOI: 10.1051/vetres/2010014

© INRA, EDP Sciences, 2010

Review article

The role of mathematical modelling in understanding the epidemiology and control of sheep transmissible spongiform encephalopathies: a review

Simon Gubbins^{1*}, Suzanne Touzeau², Thomas J. Hagenaars³

Institute for Animal Health, Pirbright Laboratory, Ash Road, Pirbright, Surrey GU24 0NF, United Kingdom
 INRA, UR341 Mathématiques et Informatique Appliquées, F-78350 Jouy-en-Josas, France
 Quantitative Veterinary Epidemiology and Risk Analysis, Department of Virology,
 Central Veterinary Institute of Wageningen UR, P.O. Box 65, 8200 AB Lelystad, The Netherlands

(Received 7 October 2009; accepted 19 February 2010)

Abstract – To deal with the incompleteness of observations and disentangle the complexities of transmission much use has been made of mathematical modelling when investigating the epidemiology of sheep transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSE) and, in particular, scrapie. Importantly, these modelling approaches allow the incidence of clinical disease to be related to the underlying prevalence of infection, thereby overcoming one of the major difficulties when studying these diseases. Models have been used to investigate the epidemiology of scrapie within individual flocks and at a regional level; to assess the efficacy of different control strategies, especially selective breeding programmes based on prion protein (PrP) genotype; to interpret the results of scrapie surveillance; and to inform the design of surveillance programmes. Furthermore, mathematical modelling has played an important role when assessing the risk to human health posed by the possible presence of bovine spongiform encephalopathy in sheep. Here, we review the various approaches that have been taken when developing and analysing mathematical models for the epidemiology and control of sheep TSE and assess their impact on our understanding of these diseases. We also identify areas that require further work, discuss future challenges and identify data gaps.

epidemiology / transmissible spongiform encephalopathy / scrapie / mathematical modelling / sheep

Table of contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Transmission of scrapie within flocks	2
	2.1. Analysing outbreak data	10
	2.2. Characterizing transmission scenarios	
	2.3. Assessing the impact of control	12
3.	Transmission of scrapie between flocks	13
	3.1. Modelling approaches	13
	3.2. Results from modelling studies	15
	3.3. Discussion	15
4.	Informing scrapie surveillance	16
5.	Possible consequences of BSE in sheep	18
	Conclusions	

^{*} Corresponding author: simon.gubbins@bbsrc.ac.uk

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/3.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any noncommercial medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1. INTRODUCTION

Transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSE) are a family of neurodegenerative diseases which afflict a range of animal species, and include bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in cattle, variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (vCJD) in humans, chronic wasting disease (CWD) in deer and classical and atypical scrapie in sheep and goats. Many of these disorders have been identified only recently, but classical scrapie has been present in sheep and goats for several centuries [70]. Despite this, the epidemiology of classical scrapie remained relatively poorly understood [10, 11, 42]. The experimental transmission of BSE to sheep [23, 24] raised the possibility that sheep in Great Britain (GB) may have been infected following exposure to contaminated feed during the 1980s [20, 51] and may pose a risk to human health [6, 20]. As a consequence of this risk a number of regulations have been adopted throughout the European Union (EU) since 2001 aimed at the control of sheep TSE, requiring (amongst other things) intensive surveillance of animals slaughtered for human consumption or found dead on farm, selective breeding programmes for TSE resistance and implementation of control measures in affected flocks.

Several features of the epidemiology of scrapie make it particularly difficult to study. First, the incubation period for the disease is typically of the order of several years [9, 42], which is comparable to the commercial life-span of a sheep. Second, until recently there has been no live diagnostic test suitable for large scale use in the field. These two features mean that only clinical cases, not infected animals, are observed in most outbreaks. Consequently, a large proportion of infected animals go undetected, because only a small proportion of infected animals survive to disease onset. Moreover, the clinical signs of scrapie can be difficult to discern [11] and, hence, not all clinical cases may be identified. Third, scrapie has a strong host genetic component associated with the prion protein (PrP) gene which influences both the risk of infection and the incubation period. Five alleles of the PrP gene (defined by amino

acids at codons 136, 154 and 171) are commonly found in sheep, which in order of increasing risk of clinical disease and decreasing age-at-onset are: ARR, AHQ, ARH, ARQ and VRQ [3, 11, 35, 73]. Finally, the routes of transmission have yet to be elucidated [10, 11, 42], and, indeed, the infectious agent has yet to be fully characterised [7, 11].

To deal with the incompleteness of observations and disentangle the complexities of transmission much use has been made of mathematical modelling when investigating the epidemiology of sheep TSE and, in particular, scrapie. Importantly, these modelling approaches allow the incidence of clinical disease to be related to the underlying prevalence of infection. thereby overcoming one of the major difficulties when studying these diseases. Models have been used to investigate the epidemiology of scrapie within individual flocks (Tab. I) and at a regional level (Tab. II); to assess the efficacy of different control strategies (Tabs. I and II), especially selective breeding programmes based on PrP genotype; to interpret the results of scrapie surveillance (Tab. III); and to inform the design of surveillance programmes (Tab. III). One further area where mathematical modelling has played an important role is when assessing the risk to human health posed by the possible presence of BSE in sheep (Tab. IV).

In this paper, we review the various approaches that have been taken when developing and analysing mathematical models for the epidemiology and control of sheep TSE and assess their impact on our understanding of these diseases. We also identify areas that require further work, discuss future challenges and identify data gaps.

2. TRANSMISSION OF SCRAPIE WITHIN FLOCKS

Analyzing field data on scrapie outbreaks is a natural starting point for studying the transmission dynamics and control of scrapie within farms (Tab. I). Mathematical modelling of the transmission process is necessary to interpret the observed development of an outbreak

Table I. Summary of models used to describe the transmission of scrapie within a sheep flock.

Author(s)	Aims	Modelling approach	Conclusions
Hagenaars et al. [37] ^a	Obtain general insights into the population-dynamical properties of possible scenarios of scrapie transmission in a sheep flock	 Deterministic model framework comprising most of the aspects that are of relevance (potentially or in reality) to the transmission dynamics of scrapie General insights from analytical considerations and approximations 	 Dependence of basic reproduction number (R₀) and generation time on other parameters gives insight into the effects of these parameters Simplified model yields insights into interplay of horizontal and vertical transmission, and the characteristics of endemic scrapie
Hagenaars et al. [38] ^a	Understand how persistence of scrapie in a flock depends on transmission and flock size	 Stochastic model of within-flock transmission Analytical calculations using branching-process approximations and Numerical calculation using stochastic model simulations 	 Disease extinction is most likely when late-stage infected animals are responsible for most of the transmission Presence of an environmental reservoir reduces the probability of extinction
Hagenaars et al. [39] ^a	Estimate transmission parameters from a scrapie outbreak	Fitting stochastic transmission models to the outbreak data	 Mean incubation period for the outbreak is less than 1.5 years Infectiousness of infected animals becomes appreciable at early stage of incubation Difficult to quantify R₀: the data are consistent with a broad range of values
Matthews et al. [57] ^b	Examine the role of a range of epidemiologically important parameters and the effects of genetic variation in susceptibility	 Mathematical expression for R₀ is derived based on a transmission model Sensitivity of R₀ to various parameters and genetic variation is studied 	 Reduction in the frequency of the susceptible allele reduces R₀ most effectively when the allele is recessive Inbreeding may increase R₀ when the susceptible allele is recessive, increasing the chance of an outbreak Point estimate of R₀ for an outbreak in Cheviot sheep is given (R₀ = 3.9)
Matthews et al. [58] ^b	Analysis of a scrapie outbreak in a flock of Cheviot sheep	Fitting a deterministic model to outbreak data	 Model reproduces observed allele frequencies and total numbers of susceptible animals remaining at the end of the outbreak Indication that older animals have reduced susceptibility to scrapie

Author(s)	Aims	Modelling approach	Conclusions
Sabatier et al. [66]	Explore the impact of genetic resistance and flock management practices on scrapie outbreaks	Discrete-time deterministic mathematical model of the within-herd transmission dynamics of scrapie	 Three main observed patterns of outbreaks: sporadic, endemic and epidemic can be reproduced depending on parameter settings Model results suggest that overall size of the outbreak is determined primarily by the initial genetic composition of the flock Outbreak type is determined mainly by the herd management practices
Stringer et al. [71] ^b	 Develop within-flock scrapie transmission model for assisting the interpretation of field data Use model to explore properties of scrapie transmission dynamics 	Deterministic model defined using partial differential equations with respect to time, age and infection load	 Scrapie outbreak is likely to be of long duration Will lead to a reduction of scrapie susceptible allele frequency (but not to zero)
Touzeau et al. [74] ^b	Explore hypothesis of increased scrapie transmission during lambing season	 Partial-differential equation model of scrapie within-flock transmission dynamics Applied to a natural outbreak in Romanov sheep 	 The observed patterns of seasonality in incidence cannot be accounted for by seasonality in demography alone Provides support for the hypothesis of increased transmission during lambing

(page number not for citation purpose) Page 5 of 24

Table I. Continued.

Author(s)	Aims	Modelling approach	Conclusions
Woolhouse et al. [79] ^b	Explore the course of an outbreak in a sheep flock, and the potential impact of different control measures	 Partial-differential equation model of scrapie within-flock transmission dynamics Parameter values consistent with available data 	 In a closed flock, scrapie outbreaks may have a duration of several decades, reduce the frequency of susceptible genotypes, and may become endemic if carrier genotypes are present In an open flock, endemic scrapie is possible even in the absence of carriers Control measures currently or likely to become available may reduce the incidence of cases but may be fully effective only over a period of several years
Woolhouse et al. [80] ^b	Analysis of an outbreak of natural scrapie in a flock of Cheviot sheep	 Partial-differential equation model of scrapie within-flock transmission dynamics 	 Model is able to reproduce key features of the outbreak, including its long duration and the ages of cases Many infected sheep do not survive to show clinical signs Most cases arise through horizontal transmission Strong selection against susceptible genotypes

References with a common superscript use the same basic modelling approach: ^a Hagenaars et al. [37]; or ^b Stringer et al. [71].

Table II. Summary of models used to describe the transmission of scrapie between sheep flocks.

Author(s)	Aims	Modelling approach	Conclusions
Durand et al. [15]	Develop a regional model for spread between flocks	 One-dimensional arrangement of flocks Winter transmission only between neighbouring flocks Summer transmission also between flocks which share grazing Gene-flow between flocks Selective breeding programmes 	Model developed, which can in future be used to assess control strategies
Gravenor et al. [27]	Estimate the flock-to-flock force of infection for scrapie in Great Britain	Simple SI model for flocks	 Force of infection: 0.0045 per farm per year Mean outbreak duration: 5 years No evidence for an increase in the force of infection before, during or after the BSE epidemic in British cattle
Gravenor et al. [28]	 Estimate transmission parameters for scrapie in Cyprus Investigate the impact of control measures 	Simple SEI model for flocks, including effect of culling and quarantine	 R₀ = 1.4-1.8 Early identification and quarantine of affected flocks most effective for control of disease
Gubbins [31]	Develop modelling approach to describe the spread of scrapie between sheep flocks in Great Britain	 Stochastic, spatial flock-level model Acquisition of infection depends on trade Probability and duration of a within-flock outbreak depends on flocks size and PrP 	 Model is able to capture the spatial dynamics of scrapie There is considerable uncertainty when predicting long-term trends for disease
Gubbins and Webb [32]	Assess the efficacy of control strategies to eradicate scrapie from Great Britain	genotype profile	 Feasible to eradicate scrapie, but it will take decades to do so The most-effective strategy is whole-flock culling, though whole-flock genotyping and selective culling is also effective
Gubbins and Roden [33]	Assess the impact of selective breeding programs on prevalence and incidence of scrapie	 Simple age- and genotype-structured SI model Flock structure ignored (same force of infection for all sheep) 	 Selective breeding strategies will reduce the prevalence and incidence Targeting only the VRQ allele is sufficient to have a large impact on disease occurrence Continued on next page

Continued on next page

Table II. Continued.

(page number not for citation purpose) Page 7 of 24

Author(s)	Aims	Modelling approach	Conclusions
Gubbins et al. [34]	Estimate basic reproduction number (R_0) and mean outbreak duration (D) for spread between flocks in the Shetland Isles	Simple SIR model for flocks	 R₀ = 1.47 (95% CI: 1.45–1.50) D = 2.11 years (95% CI: 2.01–2.23)
Hagenaars et al. [40]	Use surveillance data to estimate key epidemiological parameters	Simple SI model for flocks	 Large proportion of cases (80%) go undetected Occurrence of scrapie may provoke changes in flock management which reduces outbreak duration Within-flock R₀ = 1.5-6.0
Kao et al. [50]	 Formulate a flock-to-flock model of scrapie spread Assess potential control programmes 	 SEI epidemic model with affected flocks of "low" and "high" risk (depending on genetic structure) which determines whether they experience outbreaks following exposure Acquisition of infection depends on trade 	 R₀ = 1.1-1.2 High risk flocks predicted to comprise 3-20% of the national population Targeted programmes predicted to eradicate scrapie more quickly than those aimed at the general population
Truscott and Ferguson [75]	 Develop a model for spread of scrapie in UK sheep population Use the model to estimate infection prevalence (overall and by breed), and to evaluate possible long-term persistence of scrapie 	 Metapopulation model based on the coupling of fairly detailed within-flock SI epidemic models (genotype, age, and infection stage structure) Flock-level acquisition of infection occurs by breeding, trading, or through homogeneous low-level contamination generated by all flocks 	 Detection/reporting probability of 16% (12–17) Prevalence of infected animals in the population estimated to be 0.15% 9% of flocks estimated to be infected overall, rising to 60% in Shetland and 75% in Swaledale flocks
Truscott and Ferguson [76]	 Assess impact of different strategies for control of scrapie in UK sheep 	Flocks differ in breed, size, and PrP allelic composition	 UK National Scrapie Plan (NSP) is the most effective scheme NSP and UK Compulsory Scrapie Flock Scheme (CSFS) both reduce the case incidence, but CSFS is less effective in decreasing the susceptible allele frequency Trading restrictions have a limited impact compared to selective breeding and culling

Table III. Summary of the models used to inform scrapie surveillance.

Author(s)	Aims	Modelling approach	Conclusions
Gubbins et al. [30]	Estimate prevalence of scrapie infection in GB based on an abattoir survey in 1997/1998	 Simple age-structured prevalence model Probability of detection dependent on stage of incubation Diagnostic tests less than 100% specific 	 Prevalence of scrapie 0.22% (95% CI: 0.01–0.97%) All tests used very specific (> 99%), with only one less than 100%
Gubbins [35]	Estimate prevalence of classical scrapie in GB by integrating data on reported cases and the results of abattoir and fallen stock surveys for 2002	 Back calculation approach Probability of detection dependent on stage of incubation and PrP genotype 	 Prevalence ranges from 0.33% to 2.06% depending on stage of incubation at which diagnostic test able to detect infected animals Risk of infection much higher than the risk of clinical disease Analysis of surveillance data needs to account for PrP genotype
Gubbins and McIntyre [36]	Estimate prevalence of classical scrapie in GB for 1993–2007 by integrating data on reported cases (1993–2007) and the results of abattoir and fallen stock surveys (2002–2007)	 Back calculation approach Probability of detection dependent on stage of incubation and PrP genotype Baseline risk of infection changes over time Frequency of PrP genotypes in a birth cohort changes over time Proportion of cases reported changes over time 	 Prevalence was approximately constant for 1993–2003 and was estimated to be 0.3% to 0.7% depending on stage of incubation at which diagnostic test able to detect infected animals Prevalence declined by around 40% between 2003 and 2007
Hopp et al. [44]	Assess the efficacy of different strategies for identifying scrapie-affected flocks in Norway	 Stochastic simulation of strategy based on the probability of detecting an infected animal through each surveillance stream Includes effect of PrP genotype on risk of scrapie, incubation period and probability of detection 	 Less than 9% of affected flocks are identified by either abattoir or fallen-stock surveillance Samples sizes much lower for fallen stock than abattoir surveys Abattoir surveillance most affected by an increase in test sensitivity
Webb et al. [78]	 Estimate prevalence of scrapie infection in GB based on abattoir survey data Assess design of an abattoir survey 	 Simple age-structured prevalence model Probability of detection dependent on stage of incubation Stochastic simulation of survey 	 Survey results consistent with a prevalence in the slaughter population of up to 11% Sample sizes need to be larger Diagnostic tests need to be assessed in relation to genotype and stage of infection

Table IV. Summary of the models for the possible consequences of BSE in sheep.

Author(s)	Aims	Modelling approach	Conclusions
Ferguson et al. [20]	Estimate the human health risk from possible BSE infection in the GB sheep flock	 Deterministic age-structured SI model for within-flock spread Deterministic SIRS model for spread between flocks Deterministic model for transmission to human population 	 Public health risk from ovine BSE is likely to be greater than from cattle Risk could be reduced through additional restrictions on sheep products entering the food chain Upper bound for vCJD cases increases to 150 000 when worst-case ovine BSE scenario included in predictions
Fryer et al. [25]	Assess the impact of different control strategies to protect public health from exposure to BSE in sheep	 Age- and genotype-structured within-farm model used to estimate the exposure of humans to infectivity from BSE-infected sheep entering the food chain Assumes constant number (4) of BSE-affected flocks in GB 	 If BSE were present in the GB national flock, the exposure to consumers from a single infected sheep would be high Annual exposure from four BSE-affected flocks could be considerable Small reductions in exposure can be achieved by strategies based on tissue testing, a 12-month age restriction or expanded definitions of high-risk tissues A 6-month age restriction is more effective Genotype-based restrictions are most effective
Kao et al. [51]	Estimate the possible size of a BSE epidemic in British sheep	 Age- and genotype-structured model to predict size of feed-borne epidemic Flock-level model to predict impact of horizontal transmission on epidemic See also [51] (Tab. II) 	 Feed-borne epidemic peaked in 1990 with between 10 and 1 500 infected sheep In 2001, at most 20 clinical cases of BSE would be expected If horizontal transmission occurs, it could cause a large epidemic
Kao et al. [52]	Assess the impact of ARR/ARR sheep being susceptible to BSE	 Age- and genotype-structured model for feed-borne epidemic Deterministic model for flock-to-flock transmission See also [51, 54] 	 Predictions for size of feed-borne epidemic not affected if ARR/ARR animals can become infected Selective breeding for ARR/ARR should control a BSE epidemic, but there are scenarios consistent with the data in which control fails

through time, by characterizing the properties of different transmission scenarios and by testing if these are consistent with the data. Once such scenarios have been identified, the model can be used to explore, for example, the impact of selective breeding strategies designed to control disease. Consequently, we can distinguish three different purposes for within-flock modelling: (i) interpreting outbreak data (including parameter estimation); (ii) characterizing transmission scenarios; and (iii) assessing the impact of possible control strategies.

2.1. Analysing outbreak data

The first analysis of a scrapie outbreak using a transmission model was reported by Woolhouse et al. [80]. They used a susceptible-infected (SI) modelling approach developed in an earlier paper [71] to analyze a large outbreak of natural scrapie (137 cases among 1 307 sheep born over a period of 13 years) in a flock of Cheviot sheep. By carefully setting the values for a number of crucial parameters (in particular: horizontal transmission rate, mean and variance of the incubation period distribution, and relative susceptibility of different genotypes), they were able to reproduce the main features of the observed outbreak. What was learned from their analysis, however, extends beyond the identification of the "bestfit" parameters. In fact, the most interesting results were those that are of a more qualitative nature and that can be expected to carry over to other scrapie outbreaks, notably the following:

- Most cases arise due to horizontal (as opposed to vertical) transmission;
- Many infected sheep do not survive to show clinical signs; and
- Observed cohort dependencies in mean age of cases can be explained (in part) by an increase or decrease in the force of infection (and, hence, a decrease or increase in the average age at infection).

The modelling framework used by Woolhouse et al. [80] is a deterministic one, that is it does not describe the variation in outcome arising due to chance for any given set of

parameter values. Although this limits the applicability of the model in the early and late phases of the outbreak (where stochastic effects are large due to the small number of sheep infected with scrapie), the deterministic approach is adequate during the main part of the outbreak due to the large numbers of cases. Technically, the model is formulated as a set of partial differential equations (PDE), where the partial derivatives are with respect to three continuous variables: time, age and infection load. The inclusion of the infection load variable is a means to describe the incubation process: the load is assumed to increase exponentially with time, with onset of clinical disease assumed to occur when the load reaches a threshold level: the initial infection load is drawn from a probability distribution, yielding variation in the length of the infectious period [71].

In a second analysis using the same modelling approach, the population dynamics of a subsequent scrapie outbreak in the same flock of Cheviot sheep was studied [58]. In this second outbreak, the number of cases was much lower (33 cases among 1 473 sheep born over a period of 10 years) which means that on average the force of infection was lower. It turns out that for this reason the data from this epidemic provide additional information when analyzed with the model. In particular, the analysis showed that susceptibility to scrapie was reduced in older animals: no satisfactory model fits could be obtained when assuming age-independent susceptibility. Likewise, models assuming the same incubation period distribution for all susceptible genotypes could be rejected. Both an age dependence and a genotype dependence were identified in a later. statistically more rigorous estimation of susceptibility parameters from the same outbreak data [67].

This illustrates how a modelling analysis of data from a low-incidence outbreak may reveal heterogeneities that are not apparent from a high-incidence outbreak. Both the heterogeneities identified were not necessary to obtain a good description in the analysis of the first outbreak, due to the high force of infection in that outbreak. As a result of the high incidence of infection, susceptibility differences between genotypes alone were sufficient to reproduce

between-genotype differences in age of cases, and the low mean age at infection reduced the potential to detect any decline in susceptibility with age. The modelling of the two quite different outbreaks also provides insights into which parameters are the most important determinants of the observed outbreak patterns. One major determinant identified was the frequency of homozygous susceptible genotypes in the flock; this frequency was much lower in the second outbreak, and as result the incidence was lower and peaked at a later time. By contrast, the horizontal transmission parameter hardly differed between the two outbreaks.

We thus have the paradoxical effect (from a statistical viewpoint) that a "higher" incidence of cases may render it more difficult to quantify certain transmission parameters. This paradox is also apparent from a stochastic modelling analvsis of a high-incidence scrapie outbreak in a flock of Romanov sheep [39]. One of the parameters studied in this analysis was the basic reproduction number, R_0 , an important summary parameter that quantifies the overall transmission potential of an infection in a population of given composition (in the case of scrapie this will be the PrP genotype composition of a flock) [37, 57]. Due to the high incidence in this outbreak, the confidence interval for R_0 was found to be very wide, that is the data were consistent with a broad range of R_0 values. Nevertheless, this analysis did succeed in quantifying other parameters. In particular, it revealed that the infected animals become infectiousness at an early stage of disease incubation.

In another modelling analysis of the same outbreak in Romanov sheep [74], the hypothesis of increased scrapie transmission during the lambing season was explored. This analysis used the same PDE framework [71] as the studies of outbreaks in Cheviot sheep [58, 80]. It was found that the observed patterns of seasonality in incidence cannot be accounted for by seasonality of births alone, providing support for the biologically plausible hypothesis of increased transmission during lambing.

In the past, the most comprehensive outbreak data originated from flocks managed by research institutes. More recent data on PrP genotypes and brain-stem test results from commercial flocks

subject to statutory control measures offer new opportunities for quantitative study of scrapie transmission. One issue would be to better quantify the relationship between scrapie susceptibility and PrP genotype, a relationship that has proven difficult to study experimentally [47]. The relative susceptibility of PrP genotypes is an important model parameter in most withinflock transmission models. If the incidence is sufficiently low, the calculated genotype-specific infection attack rates are proportional to the relative susceptibility. As a result, infection attack rates observed in low-incidence outbreaks can serve as a measure of genotype-specific susceptibility. For higher attack rates, this is not the case as infection saturation effects will act differently in different genotypes; mathematical modelling is necessary to take such effects into account. It is also relevant to notice that the interpretation of attack rates from either clinical scrapie data [3] or brain-stem test data in terms of relative susceptibility to scrapie infection is not straightforward; it is complicated by differences between genotypes in terms of incubation time and also, in the case of clinical data, differences in clinical signs. Infection attack rates based on brain-stem rapid tests indicate in particular that the relative susceptibility of ARR/VRQ animals is much higher than suggested by data on clinical cases (see also [35, 36]).

2.2. Characterizing transmission scenarios

The first within-flock modelling analysis aimed at characterizing different transmission scenarios focused on calculating the basic reproduction number, R_0 , for scrapie [57]. By studying the sensitivity of R_0 to various parameters and to genetic variation, their role in within-flock transmission is elucidated. One of the conclusions is that a reduction in the frequency of the susceptibility allele reduces R_0 most effectively when the allele is recessive, whereas inbreeding may increase R_0 when the allele is recessive, increasing the chance of an outbreak. The authors illustrate how the mathematical expression derived for R_0 can be evaluated from outbreak data by considering the example of a scrapie outbreak in a flock of Cheviot sheep.

In a model development paper using an ordinary differential equation (ODE) model approach (as opposed to PDE), the sensitivity of R_0 to various model parameters was studied analytically by Hagenaars et al. [37]. The derivation of an explicit (analytical) result for the dependence of R_0 on model parameters was enabled by assuming negligible vertical transmission and by making the common assumption that the genotype dependence of horizontal transmission risks can be written as the product of a relative infectiousness (determined by the genotype of the infected animal) and a relative susceptibility (determined by the genotype of the susceptible contact animal). The authors were able to show how the transmission of scrapie within a flock is determined by four key factors, one of which is the manner in which the infectiousness of an animal increases between infection and disease onset. Further approximations were made that allowed additional results to be obtained. In particular, the interplay between horizontal and vertical transmission was elucidated, as well as how model parameters determine the following properties: the level of disease-induced selection against susceptibility, the presence or absence of recurrent incidence peaks, and the average infection prevalence during an outbreak.

A further issue for exploration by modelling is how the duration of scrapie outbreaks depends on the underlying parameters. To study this issue, a stochastic modelling approach is needed, because both the early and the late phases of an outbreak are much affected by chance events. In particular, disease extinction, occurring when the last infected individual recovers or, in the case of scrapie, is removed from the population, is an intrinsically stochastic process. An exploratory analysis of how scrapie extinction (or, equivalently, persistence) properties depend on relevant model parameters [38] used the stochastic equivalent of an ODE model framework developed earlier [37], as well as branching-process approximations [37]. The properties studied included the probability of early extinction and the outbreak duration distribution. One the main results was that for a given basic reproduction number, disease extinction was most likely when late-stage infected animals are responsible for most of the transmission.

A stochastic modelling approach was also adopted by Sabatier et al. [66]. They used a discrete-time stochastic model of both the genetic composition of, and scrapie transmission within, a sheep flock to study outbreak patterns. They classified the resulting patterns into three different types: sporadic (short outbreaks), endemic (long outbreaks, with clinical cases mainly in young animals), and epidemic (long outbreaks, with clinical cases in all the age classes). One of their findings was that the overall size of an outbreak was mainly determined by the initial genetic composition of the flock, whereas the outbreak type was influenced mostly by flock management practices.

2.3. Assessing the impact of control

The third principal use of within-flock modelling is to assess the effect of scrapie control measures in a flock. These range from qualitative assessments of factors likely to influence the efficacy of control [57, 79] to quantitative analyses of control programmes in affected flocks. Woolhouse et al. [79] explore the effect of a number of generic control measures on the time evolution of an outbreak: reduction of vertical transmission, reduction of horizontal transmission, slaughter of preclinically infected sheep, and breeding with homozygous resistant rams only. Similarly, Matthews et al. [57] studied the sensitivity of R_0 to the first three control measures, showing in particular that the first measure (reduction of vertical transmission) would typically have insufficient effect to reduce R_0 to below one (as required for successful control).

The first three control measures listed above are either of a generic character (reduction of transmission) or not yet feasible on a large scale (slaughter of preclinically infected sheep). However, a control programme based on selecting ARR/ARR rams for breeding was initiated in the Netherlands some years ago. In recent years, the scrapie incidence per sheep of susceptible PrP genotype was found to be dropping, in agreement with expectations based on

mathematical modelling of the selective breeding programme¹.

In the literature on modelling the withinflock dynamics of scrapie we observe that the different modelling approaches (ODE, PDE, discrete-time) give similar main model behaviour. Much of the work is exploratory in nature, for example, no detailed transmission parameter estimates have been attempted other than for a small number of outbreaks in specific flocks. The modelling analyses of the severe outbreak in the French flock of Romanov sheep [39, 74] show that although some parameters remain highly uncertain, some of them can be meaningfully quantified: seasonality, onset of infectiousness and mean incubation period.

More and better data is now accumulating as mandatory control measures in scrapie-affected flocks produce data on genotype profiles of commercially kept flocks and also crosssectional data on infection incidence in the different genotypes in these flocks. This will allow better estimates of the relative susceptibility of the different genotypes to be obtained, and thus enable improved models for the relationship between the PrP genotype profile of a flock and its basic reproduction number. One difficult aspect of the latter relationship is to quantify differences in infectiousness amongst genotypes. Here experiments in a controlled setting might help to give at least some clues, for example experiments measuring the level of infectivity in placenta and its dependence on ewe and lamb genotype [1].

3. TRANSMISSION OF SCRAPIE BETWEEN FLOCKS

At a regional or national scale, most scrapie transmission models have been developed with the aim of assessing existing or potential control measures, even if the actual assessment may be outside the scope of the study presented [15, 31, 75]. Control measures are mostly based on selective breeding at the flock level [32, 33, 50, 76], which aims at increasing the frequency of low-risk alleles in the national flock. Accordingly, these strategies require the genotyping of rams and, possibly, ewes. Targeting animals in flocks assumed to be at a higher risk of scrapie has also been explored [50]. Apart from selective breeding, whole-flock culling may be implemented [27, 32, 76] and the impact of delayed detection or under-reporting is explored [28]. Despite all these measures being expensive to implement, very few studies have explicitly considered costs as part of the analysis [28].

Models have also been used as integrative tools to combine fairly heterogeneous data from various sources. This allows risk factors to be identified [34] or transmission scenarios to be verified [40]. Depending on the data available and on the outbreak "stage", models may also be used to reproduce the disease history at a fairly large scale [15, 34] or to predict its potential spread at an early stage [28].

3.1. Modelling approaches

Models that take into account the transmission of scrapie between flocks offer a whole range of complexity in the representation of flocks and their interactions: from simple models in which flocks are considered as individuals in an homogeneous population [28, 34], to complex models in which the within-flock transmission dynamics are explicitly included in a heterogeneous population of flocks [15, 75]. There is an obvious trade-off between tractability and realism in these models.

In such a metapopulation approach, the modelling unit is frequently the flock as a whole. It is characterised mainly by its epidemiological state, susceptible or infected [27, 31, 34, 40], an infected flock being defined as one with either infected individuals or detected cases. An exposed state [50], corresponding to a flock with relatively high frequencies of resistant PrP genotypes and assumed to have lower prevalence of infection, or a quarantine state [28] may also be considered. A certain degree of flock heterogeneity may be included in the model, typically reflecting flock-level risk

Hagenaars T.J., Melchior M.B., Bossers A., Davidse A., Van Zijderveld F.G., Scrapie incidence is declining in sheep of susceptible genotype in a sheep population subject to breeding for resistance, BMC Vet. Res. (submitted).

factors for scrapie [41, 43, 59, 62]. This may simply be variation in flock size [27] or may be a more detailed characterisation of flock size, type and region [31]; flocks may also be divided into high and low risk groups [50].

The between-flock dynamics of scrapie are driven by two major flock-level parameters: the probability of infection, based on the proportion of infected flocks, and the outbreak duration. In simpler cases, these parameters are assumed to be the same for all flocks [28, 34, 40], leading to models similar to the classical SI models used to describe within-flock transmission. These parameters are otherwise modulated by flock characteristics [27, 31, 50]. The probability of infection may also depend on whether scrapie is supposed to originate from animals bred in the flock or those bought-in to the flock [27]. Between-flock transmission being principally due to animal movements, this probability can be further defined as the risk for a flock to acquire infected animals and subsequently develop an outbreak [31, 50].

All the models mentioned above are relatively easy to implement and are mathematically tractable, with a reasonable number of parameters. However, they offer a simplified and implicit description of scrapie dynamics within each flock. In particular, the PrP genotype structure of the flock, which plays an important role in within-flock transmission, may be implied in the model by some flock state or characteristic, but in a static representation [31, 50].

A few models differ from this approach. The first one [33] represents the dynamics of scrapie prevalence in the British sheep population structured by age and PrP genotype. It ignores the flock structure entirely, so the resulting model is a classical SI model in a rather large flock. By contrast, two approaches [15, 75] both explicitly incorporate the within-flock transmission dynamics in their metapopulation model, essentially by coupling several flocklevel models. In [15], these are simplified versions of the model developed by Sabatier et al. [66]. Two types of flocks are considered, sedentary or transhumant flocks, as well as three levels of genetic selection. Groups of sheep within a flock are characterised by their scrapie status and PrP genotype. Between-flock transmission occurs through trade and shared grazing. In [75], the within-flock transmission dynamics are fairly detailed and based on the model developed by Hagenaars et al. [37]. Groups of sheep within a flock are characterised by their scrapie status, PrP genotype and age, as well as their incubation stage for the infected individuals. Flocks differ by their breed, size and allelic composition, the last two being breed-dependent. Between-flock transmission occurs through breeding and trading. Moreover, the authors assume a homogeneous low-level contamination generated by all flocks.

The model developed by Durand et al. [15] is the only spatio-temporal model of between-flock scrapie transmission. Space is introduced as a one-dimensional discrete variable to localise flocks, allowing neighbouring pastures or mountain grazing ranges to be defined. In [31], space appears as a factor rather than a variable and the model is fitted to regional data.

All models assume that there is a constant number of flocks. A particular feature of two approaches [50, 75] is that their models incorporate a "birth and death process" at the flock level: flocks are dispersed and new flocks are formed from several dispersed flocks. Moreover, flocks may convert from high risk to low risk and vice versa following dispersal, and, hence, the proportions of low and high risk flocks can vary. As they represent two different PrP genotype structures, this allows the rough implementation of a selective breeding programme. In [15], selective breeding is integrated through the modelling of ram genotype frequencies, which are flock- and time-dependent and act as a control measure in the model. In [76], selective breeding is introduced through the use of resistant rams.

Most between-flock transmission models are calibrated on postal survey data or other available data sources that provide information on flock types and status. In [31], a sensitivity analysis was performed to assess the impact of parameter uncertainty. Sensitivity analyses are also performed to check the robustness of potential control measures [32, 33]. The within-flock dynamics of the simplified aggregated model used in [15] is validated by comparison with the original and detailed flock-model [66].

3.2. Results from modelling studies

In some studies, the main result is the development of the model itself [15, 31, 50, 75]. Estimates of key epidemiological parameters, such as the basic reproductive number, R_0 , or the duration of the outbreak are obtained from most between-flock transmission models [27, 31, 34, 40, 50, 75]. Observed patterns and trends are compared to simulation outputs [15, 28, 31].

The effects of control measures were assessed in various studies. Results do not always converge, partly because the measures tested vary amongst studies. Gravenor et al. [28] showed that early detection is more costeffective than whole-flock slaughter. Gubbins and Webb [32] compared four breeding strategies based on different genotyping and PrP selection levels, plus whole-flock culling. The latter was more effective, though whole-flock genotyping and selective culling also worked; in both cases, it was predicted that it would take decades to achieve scrapie eradication. Gubbins and Roden [33] assessed four breeding strategies, ranging from the EU minimum (restriction on VRQ-bearing rams) to the National Scrapie Plan for Great Britain (NSP) purebred flock scheme. All four strategies were effective but took some time before any incidence decrease was predicted to occur. They all target the VRQ allele in rams, which is sufficient to control the disease. Kao et al. [50] compared three breeding programmes that tend to increase the conversion of high risk flocks to low risk flocks: (i) a non-targeted programme, (ii) a programme that targets all high risk flocks, and (iii) a programme that targets highly infected flocks. Both targeted programmes were effective at reducing scrapie prevalence. Targeting fewer flocks is preferable, but the corresponding strategy (iii) does not eradicate high risk flocks, in contrast with strategies (i) and (ii). The recommended solution was a mixed strategy: (iii) followed by (ii) or (i). Finally, Truscott and Ferguson [76] compared the outcome of several policies with the natural course of the epidemic. The NSP Compulsory Scrapie Flock Scheme (CSFS), and the EU minimum requirements were implemented. The NSP was found to be the most effective scheme: whereas the

NSP and CSFS both reduce the case incidence, the CSFS was less effective at decreasing the frequency of susceptible alleles in the national flock. In addition, they also showed that trading restrictions have a limited impact, compared to selective breeding and culling.

3.3. Discussion

Many of the studies reviewed above were presented as "preliminary", pending data collection. Data are crucial to inform models in order to produce realistic results, and a lack of data leads either to fairly complex and realistic models that are difficult to validate, or to (over)simplified models that cannot capture all transmission features.

This highlights the major problems with modelling studies which investigate the spread and control of scrapie at a regional level. On the one hand, the models required to do so are a priori more complex and, hence, more difficult to implement. On the other hand, they require more data, or data that are not readily available, to parameterize and validate the models. In particular, most modelling studies usually rely on surveys to assess the flock distribution in a region, the flock characteristics or their trading practices. The resulting spatial resolution and flock description are, hence, rather poor.

In a truly mechanistic model, between-flock transmission would be based on animal movements or very close contacts between flocks (for example, shared grazing). However, the data needed to construct such a model are seldom available, Great Britain being an exception, where sheep movements have been recorded since 2002. Another issue is tractability. Heterogeneities at the individual or flock level are likely to have an important effect on scrapie transmission, for example the PrP genotype structure within a flock, management practices or trading patterns. Too fine a structure on the sheep population, however, would only lead to very complex models that cannot easily be validated.

The availability of sheep movement data for Great Britain has given rise to studies in which the actual contact structure between flocks is used to analyse scrapie epidemiological data [29, 53]. Realistic flock networks such as the

ones proposed in these studies [29, 53] are attractive tools with which to represent the spread of scrapie between flocks. One future avenue which would be very interesting to explore is to couple such network approach with a within-flock transmission model, though a compromise would have to be sought between the integration of detailed realistic features and model tractability.

Given the lack of data with which to parameterise models for the spread of scrapie at a regional level, it is reasonable to ask what utility these models have. The main reason for developing many of the models was to assess the impact of different control strategies (Tab. II). Rather than attempt to predict the absolute impact of a strategy on the occurrence of scrapie, however, most models were used to compare the relative impact of a number of different strategies. Such an approach is likely to produce more robust conclusions because the aim is primarily to rank the strategies, not to explicitly quantify their impact.

4. INFORMING SCRAPIE SURVEILLANCE

Surveillance for scrapie is carried out throughout the EU (see, for example, [19]) with three main sources used: reported clinical cases; surveys of animals found dead on farm (fallen stock); and surveys of animals slaughtered for human consumption (abattoir surveys). However, interpretation of such surveillance data is complicated by a number of factors, for example, under-reporting of suspect cases and the dependence of the probability of detecting an infected animal on stage of incubation and PrP genotype. Mathematical models have been used to take into account these complications and, hence, interpret the data in terms of the underlying prevalence rather than the apparent prevalence or incidence (Tab. III).

The first studies developed methods to estimate the prevalence of infection in GB from the results of an abattoir survey conducted in GB during 1997–1998 [30, 78]. Both studies used a simple age-structured model for the prevalence of infection and allowed the probability of detection to vary with stage of incubation. The principal difference between the papers lay in the treatment of the data: Webb et al. [78]

analysed the results for each diagnostic test independently; Gubbins et al. [30] combined all the test data in a single analysis and, in addition, allowed for less than 100% specificity for the tests. The approach adopted in [30] was used subsequently to analyse the results of abattoir surveys in 2002 and 2003 [16].

More recently, a different approach based on back-calculation methods, which integrated data from three surveillance sources (reported cases, fallen stock surveys and abattoir surveys), was developed to estimate the prevalence of sheep infected with classical scrapie in GB, initially using data for a single year (2002) [35], but subsequently using data from multiple years [36]. The critical assumption required to link all three sources of data, and those for fallen stock in particular, was that a proportion of infected animals survive to disease onset, but die before clinical signs become apparent. This is the simplest way of allowing for an increased risk of mortality in scrapie-infected animals close to the onset of disease [13, 35] (cf. [21]). In effect, this assumption implies that fallen stock surveys sample animals at or close to the onset of clinical disease.

Models developed to analyse surveillance data can also be used to address the inverse problem, namely what sample size are required to detect a given prevalence in the national flock (Tab. III). Because the 1997–1998 abattoir survey yielded so few positive samples despite being designed using standard statistical methods, Webb et al. [78] used their model to investigate the number of animals that would need to be sampled at the abattoir to detect at least five infected animals. The model of Webb et al. [78] was later extended by Hopp et al. [44] to include PrP genotype and fallen stock, and used as the within-flock component of a national surveillance model for scrapie in Norwegian sheep. The aim was to compute the sample size required to detect a specified number of infected flocks, which indicated that surveillance based on fallen stock required a considerably smaller number of sheep to be tested compared with abattoir-based surveillance. This reflects the much higher prevalence in the fallen stock compared with abattoir surveys [19, 36].

Although two different approaches were used to analyse surveillance data (i.e. those based on

[78] and those based on [35]), the models make a number of common assumptions:

- (i) Animals are assumed to become infected at or close to birth. This can be justified because of the increased risk of infection in the perinatal period [22, 46] and evidence suggesting there is a decrease in susceptibility with age [67] (cf. Sect. 2.1). However, the impact of this assumption on the prevalence estimates has not been assessed.
- (ii) Animals experience the same force of infection, that is the models ignore the impact of flock-level heterogeneities and flock structure on transmission. (Even though Hopp et al. [44] included flock structure, they assumed that the force of infection was the same in all flocks.) This assumption is largely made to simplify the analysis and reduce the amount of demographic data required to estimate the prevalence in the national flock (cf. the data requirements for between-flock models. Sect. 3). It would, however, be of interest to explore whether the analyses could be extended to include flock structure, as this would provide information on both holding-level and within-holding prevalence; but any such analysis is likely to be severely restricted by the available data.
- (iii) The demographic structure of the underlying sheep population is assumed to be static. This is likely to be reasonable for the age structure of the population, but not for the PrP genotype frequencies, especially if a selective breeding programme is being implemented, as was case for GB after 2001. This suggests that the estimates for surveys prior to 2002 are likely not to be substantially affected by this assumption, but the analysis of surveys after this date must take the changes in the underlying PrP genotype frequencies into account (see, for example, [36]).

The principal difference between the two approaches is that the analyses in [78] and

[30] ignored the effect of PrP genotype on the risk of infection, the incubation period and the probability of detection, primarily because PrP genotype data were not collected for animals sampled in the surveys. This is likely to have resulted in a spurious precision for the prevalence estimates (i.e. narrower confidence limits), because it ignores the relatively small numbers of animals sampled carrying each genotype, especially those in the higher-risk genotypes [35]. In addition, by including the effects of PrP genotype in the analysis Gubbins [35] was also able to estimate the risk of infection (rather than just that of clinical disease) and incubation period in different genotypes.

In addition to their apparent precision, the prevalence estimates themselves differ between the two approaches, though only estimates for 1997/1998 have been made using both approaches. In this case they were: up to 11% [78]; 0.22% [30]; or 0.3–0.7% [36]. However, a common observation from both approaches is that the prevalence estimates depend on the assumptions made about the ability of the test to detect infected, but preclinical animals. In particular, the later in the incubation period at which infected animals can be detected, the higher the prevalence estimates obtained. Yet this critical parameter is poorly defined. Limited data from pathogenesis studies [48, 77] suggest that it could be anywhere between the final half and final quarter of the incubation period [35]. A further complication is whether the preclinical detection period is fixed [30, 78], or whether it is a proportion of the incubation period [35, 36]. A fixed period has a mechanistic basis: it corresponds to an animal becoming detectable once a threshold level infectivity is reached [13]. A proportional one, however, is simpler to extrapolate from one PrP genotype to another.

Finally, all the analyses, except for [36], focus on data for a single year. However, the long incubation period of scrapie means that data from one year informs the prevalence in other years. Consequently, integrating data from multiple years results in more robust prevalence estimates [35, 36]. Moreover, the sample sizes required to detect a given level of prevalence will be much higher if based only on a single

year's surveillance than if based on data collected over multiple years.

5. POSSIBLE CONSEQUENCES OF BSE IN SHEEP

To date no naturally-occurring cases of BSE have been confirmed in sheep [18, 69], though one case has been confirmed in a French goat [17] with a further case suspected in a British goat [49]. Consequently, mathematical modelling of BSE in sheep has been used to address a different issue, namely to examine a hypothetical situation based on limited data (Tab. IV). In particular, two questions have been addressed: what could be the size and duration of an epidemic of BSE in sheep? What is the risk to human health posed by BSE in sheep and what could be the impact of different risk mitigation strategies? The principal focus of the various studies (Tab. IV) has been the consequences for an epidemic of BSE in British sheep, which reflects the magnitude of the BSE epidemic in cattle in GB compared with other countries [14].

Two studies examined the potential size and duration of an epidemic of BSE in British sheep [20, 51]. To describe a putative feed-borne epidemic Kao et al. [51] used an age-cohort model in which flocks were divided into two categories "lowland" and "hill and upland" to reflect different patterns of exposure to BSE-contaminated feed between these sectors. In addition, the effect of PrP genotype was included by assuming that animals homozygous for glutamine at codon 171 (QQ₁₇₁) had a short incubation period, heterozygous animals (i.e. QX₁₇₁ where X is any other amino acid) had a longer incubation period, and the remaining genotypes were resistant to infection. In addition, Kao et al. [51] used a model for flock-to-flock transmission of BSE in sheep similar to one presented earlier [50] (see Tab. II) to assess the impact of horizontal transmission on the spread of BSE in sheep. By contrast, Ferguson et al. [20] developed a model that included both within- and between-farm transmission. However, within-farm transmission was included only in a much simplified manner, by assuming that resistance or susceptibility to BSE was a flock- rather than an animal-level (i.e. PrP genotype) property and that once a farm recovered from infection it could not be re-infected for a mean of 20 years.

The predictions for epidemic size were similar for both models [20, 51], with a peak prevalence of around 0.1% of flocks and 0.01% of animals, which occurred in the early 1990s. Moreover, both studies identified scenarios consistent with the available data in which BSE could be maintained at low levels in the sheep population, though this only occurred if there was sheep-to-sheep transmission of the BSE agent. However, both models also predicted a wide range of potential outcomes for the epidemics (over several orders of magnitude), especially for the long-term dynamics of BSE, which meant it was not possible to draw any robust conclusions.

In a later paper Kao et al. [52] extended their earlier approach to consider the impact of susceptibility of the putatively resistant ARR/ARR sheep, which were shown to develop clinical disease following intracerebral challenge [45]. They concluded that under most scenarios for the risk of infection in ARR/ARR animals the ability of the NSP to control sheep TSE would not be adversely affected. However, some of the more extreme scenarios, although consistent with the available data, indicated that the efficacy of the NSP could be compromised.

The risk to human health posed by an epidemic of BSE in sheep was investigated by Ferguson et al. [20] by integrating the outputs from their BSE in sheep model with one for the transmission of vCJD in humans. In particular, the potential size of a vCJD epidemic was assessed under a range of risk mitigation strategies based on the removal of tissues likely to contain BSE infectivity and restricting the age of sheep entering the food chain. More recently, Fryer et al. [25] assessed the impact of different risk mitigation strategies on the amount of infectivity entering the food chain, assuming there were four BSE-affected flocks in GB (the upper 95% confidence limit for the number of affected flocks; [69]). Both studies predicted that a BSE-infected sheep posed a greater risk to human health than a BSE-infected bovine,

because of the increased number of tissues containing infectivity in sheep and the difficulty of removing these from a carcass. Moreover, the two studies produced similar rankings for the mitigation strategies based on age restrictions, with control measures under which only animals under six months of age are allowed into the food chain identified as being the most effective. Fryer et al. [25] also considered further restrictions based on PrP genotype and found that genotype-only strategies were less effective than age-based ones, but that control measures based on both age and PrP genotype produced the greatest reductions in risk.

For all the studies which have investigated the potential consequences of BSE in sheep there was a considerable range of outcomes, reflecting the uncertainties and assumptions made in the models used, which are consequences of the limited availability of data. This raises the important question of the value of these studies (see, for example, [55, 63]). First, they allow exploration of potential scenarios, which integrate the available data, though care must clearly be taken when interpreting the model outputs and communicating them to policy makers or the general public. Second, they facilitate comparison of the relative impact of different control measures. Third, and possibly most importantly, they enable data gaps to be identified.

6. CONCLUSIONS

Mathematical modelling has made a number of important contributions to scrapie epidemiology, most notably: in understanding and quantifying transmission between animals; in assessing the impact of control measures at both the flock and national level; and in interpreting and integrating the results of scrapie surveillance.

One area in which mathematical modelling has been less successful, however, is in helping to elucidate routes of transmission. Although some studies have given attention to the interplay between horizontal and vertical transmission [37, 39, 57] or the role of an environmental reservoir for infectivity [38, 39], models cannot easily be used to identify separate transmission routes. This is essentially because a decrease in

transmission via one route can be compensated for by a corresponding increase in transmission via a different route without greatly affecting the predicted course of an epidemic. Consequently, transmission routes must be explored using either transmission experiments carried out in controlled environments (as was done for scrapie transmission via milk [54]) or by using more traditional field-based approaches [11, 42]. In the case of transmission experiments, mathematical modelling has an important role to play in interpreting results and extrapolating these to the field situation (see, for example, [8]).

A surprising aspect of the modelling studies highlighted by this review is the relative lack of interaction between the different levels that have been modelled (i.e. within-flock; between flock; surveillance). For example, with few exceptions ([37] and [75, 76]; [66] and [15]) the models developed to describe the dynamics of scrapie within a flock are seldom used, even in simplified forms, as components of models for the spread of scrapie between farms, despite control measures typically being targeted at a flock level. Moreover, scrapie surveillance often provides the largest data-sets with which to estimate parameters such as the relative risk of infection or the ageat-onset in different PrP genotypes, especially those in which scrapie occurs infrequently. Yet most studies of scrapie outbreaks within flocks rely solely on the data for that outbreak to estimate all parameters in the model, even those that are genotype-specific. This is sometimes feasible for high-incidence outbreaks that have been studied in detail [39, 58, 74, 80], though even here considerable uncertainty remains about some parameters [39].

This raises a particular issue with studies of scrapie outbreaks: they focus on a small number of outbreaks in flocks run by research institutes (NPU Cheviot: [58, 80]; or INRA Langlade: [39, 74]). The incidence in these flocks is typically higher than is observed in "natural" outbreaks [61], which facilitates the detailed study of scrapie dynamics. It remains to be seen whether the higher incidence is simply a consequence of closer monitoring or is a feature of the outbreaks themselves. The limited number of outbreaks studied to date, however, makes it difficult to assess which parameters in the

models can reasonably be extrapolated to other outbreaks. For example, estimates for the relative risk of infection in different PrP genotypes for the INRA Langlade flock [74] were similar to those obtained from scrapie surveillance data for GB [35]. By contrast, there is evidence that the age-at-onset of disease is different from other "natural" outbreaks [61].

More detailed data on "natural" outbreaks have recently been published (see, for example, [60, 61]). In addition, data from compulsory action in scrapie-affected flocks (PrP genotypes and results of brain-stem tests; [65]) also provide the opportunity to further analyse the dynamics of scrapie within a flock. It will be important to use these and any other suitable data to estimate transmission and other parameters. This will make it possible to examine how parameters vary amongst flocks and how this variation depends on flock management practices, especially those which have been identified as risk factors for scrapie [41, 43, 59, 62].

Two aspects of scrapie epidemiology remain outstanding questions: the role of carriers and the impact of scrapie strains. Carriers are defined as "animals which become infected. but do not develop clinical disease in their productive life" [2]. An early modelling study did explore the potential consequences of carriers for control strategies [79], but the carrier state has received little attention in subsequent studies. Recent modelling analyses of data from surveillance data [35, 36] have, however, provided evidence that the ARR/VRQ genotype may represent a carrier state in that it has a high risk of infection (the third highest; [35]) and a long incubation period, such that infected animals seldom develop clinical disease.

Despite evidence from strain typing in mice that there is strain variation in natural scrapie [5], it is unclear how these strains impact on the epidemiology of scrapie in sheep. The issue of strains has become more important in recent years with the identification of so-called atypical scrapie [4]. There are many open questions relating to this disease. However, mathematical modelling could be used to integrate what data are available and, hence, generate hypotheses about the epidemiology of atypical scrapie (cf. the situation with BSE in sheep). Of more

immediate concern is the relationship between PrP genotype and the risk of atypical scrapie, which is markedly different from classical scrapie [19]. Consequently, there is the possibility that selective breeding programmes to reduce the risk of classical scrapie could increase the risk of atypical scrapie. Mathematical models have the potential to address this issue and also to investigate whether or not breeding strategies can be devised which reduce the risk of both types of scrapie.

Finally, mathematical modelling also has an important role to play in two further areas related to disease control:

- (i) There are concerns that selective breeding programmes based on PrP genotype could adversely affect production (see [72] for a review). Despite the potential consequences, little attention has been given to this possibility. Mathematical modelling could be used to assess whether this is likely to be the case (see, for example, [12, 56]).
- (ii) To date control measures for scrapie rely on removing animals that are at risk of scrapie rather than those which are known to be infected. Recently, live diagnostic tests have been developed which could be used as part of a large scale control programme, for example tonsil [68], third-eyelid [64] or rectal tonsil [26] biopsy, though test performance will depend on the stage of incubation and PrP genotype of the animals being tested. Mathematical modelling will form an essential part of assessing whether or not such an approach is likely to be effective and, if so, how best to use the tests².

Acknowledgements. This work was conducted within the framework of the NeuroPrion NoE (FOOD-CT-2004-506578).

² Boden L.A., Houston F., Fryer H., Kao R.R., Use of a pre-clinical 'pen-side' test in the control of scrapie in a single UK sheep flock, in: Newton J.R., Pfeiffer D.U. (Eds.), Society for Veterinary Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, Proceedings of a meeting held in London, UK, 1–3 April 2009, pp. 161–174.

REFERENCES

- [1] Andreoletti O., Lacroux C., Chabert A., Monnereau L., Tabouret G., Lantier F., et al., PrPSc accumulation in placentas of ewes exposed to natural scrapie: influence of foetal PrP genotype and effect on ewe-to-lamb transmission, J. Gen. Virol. (2002) 83:2607–2616.
- [2] Anonymous, SEAC Subgroup Report: Research and surveillance for TSEs in sheep, SEAC, London, 1999.
- [3] Baylis M., Chihota C., Stevenson E., Goldmann W., Smith A., Sivam K., et al., Risk of scrapie in British sheep of different prion protein genotypes, J. Gen. Virol. (2004) 85:2735–2740.
- [4] Benestad S.L., Arsac J.N., Goldmann W., Nöremark M., Atypical/Nor98 scrapie: properties of the agent, genetics and epidemiology, Vet. Res. (2008) 39:19.
- [5] Bruce M.E., Boyle A., Cousens S., McConnell I., Foster J., Goldmann W., Fraser H., Strain characterisation of natural sheep scrapie and comparison with BSE, J. Gen. Virol. (2002) 83:695–704.
- [6] Butler D., Doubts over ability to monitor risk of BSE spread to sheep, Nature (1998) 395:6–7.
- [7] Caughey B., Baron G.S., Prions and their partners in crime, Nature (2006) 443:803–810.
- [8] de Jong M.C.M., Kimman T.G., Experimental quantification of vaccine-induced reduction in virus transmission, Vaccine (1994) 12:761–766.
- [9] del Rio Vilas V.J., Guitian J., Pfeiffer D.U., Wilesmith J.W., Analysis of data from the passive surveillance of scrapie in Great Britain between 1993 and 2002, Vet. Rec. (2006) 159:799–804.
- [10] Detwiler L.A., Scrapie, Rev. Sci. Tech. Off. Int. Epizoot. (1992) 11:491–537.
- [11] Detwiler L.A., Baylis M., The epidemiology of scrapie, Rev. Sci. Tech. Off. Int. Epizoot. (2003) 22:121–143.
- [12] Doeschl-Wilson A., Sawalha R., Gubbins S., Villanueva B., Implications of conflicting associations of the prion protein (PrP) gene with scrapie susceptibility and fitness on the persistence of scrapie, PLoS ONE (2009) 4:e7970.
- [13] Donnelly C.A., Ferguson N.M., Ghani A.C., Anderson R.M., Implications of BSE infection screening data for the scale of the British BSE epidemic and current European infection levels, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B (2002) 269:2179–2190.

- [14] Ducrot C., Arnold M., de Koeijer A., Heim D., Calavas D., Review of the epidemiology and dynamics of BSE epidemics, Vet. Res. (2008) 39:15.
- [15] Durand B., Dubois M.A., Sabatier P., Calavas D., Ducrot C., Van de Wille A., Multiscale modelling of scrapie epidemiology. II. Geographic level: hierarchical transfer of the herd model to regional disease spread, Ecol. Mod. (2004) 179:515–531.
- [16] Elliot H., Gubbins S., Ryan J., Ryder S., Tongue S., Watkins G., Wilesmith J., Prevalence of scrapie in sheep in Great Britain: estimates from abattoir surveys during 2002 and 2003, Vet. Rec. (2005) 157:418–419.
- [17] Eloit M., Adjou K., Coulpier M., Fontaine J.J., Hamel R., Lilin T., et al., BSE agent signatures in a goat, Vet. Rec. (2005) 156:523–524.
- [18] European Commission, Report on the monitoring and testing of ruminants for the presence of transmissible spongiform encephalopathy (TSE) in the EU in 2006, European Commission, Brussels, Belgium, 2007.
- [19] Fediaevsky A., Tongue S.C., Nöremark M., Calavas D., Ru G., Hopp P., A descriptive study of the prevalence of atypical and classical scrapie in sheep in 20 European countries, BMC Vet. Res. (2008) 4:19.
- [20] Ferguson N.M., Ghani A.C., Donnelly C.A., Hagenaars T.J., Anderson R.M., Estimating the human health risk from possible BSE infection of the British sheep flock, Nature (2002) 415:420–424.
- [21] Ferguson N.M., Donnelly C.A., Assessment of the risk posed by bovine spongiform encephalopathy in cattle in Great Britain and the impact of potential changes to current control measures, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B (2003) 270:1579–1584.
- [22] Foster J.D., Dickinson A.G., Age at death from natural scrapie in a flock of Suffolk sheep, Vet. Rec. (1989) 125:415–417.
- [23] Foster J.D., Hope J., Fraser H., Transmission of bovine spongiform encephalopathy to sheep and goats, Vet. Rec. (1993) 133:339–341.
- [24] Foster J.D., Parnham D., Chong A., Goldmann W., Hunter N., Clinical signs, histopathology and genetics of experimental transmission of BSE and natural scrapie to sheep and goats, Vet. Rec. (2001) 148:165–171.
- [25] Fryer H., Baylis M., Sivam K., McLean A.R., Quantifying the risk from ovine BSE and the impact of control strategies, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B (2007) 274:1497–1503.
- [26] Gonzalez L., Dagleish M.P., Martin S., Dexter G., Steele P., Finlayson J., Jeffrey M., Diagnosis of preclinical scrapie in live sheep by the immunohistochemical

- examination of rectal biopsies, Vet. Rec. (2008) 162:397–403.
- [27] Gravenor M.B., Cox D.R., Hoinville L.J., Hoek A., McLean A.R., The flock-to-flock force of infection for scrapie in Britain, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B (2001) 268:587–592.
- [28] Gravenor M.B., Papasozomenos P., McLean A.R., Neophytu G., A scrapie epidemic in Cyprus, Epidemiol. Infect. (2004) 132:751–760.
- [29] Green D.M., del Rio Vilas V.J., Birch C.P.D., Johnson J., Kiss I.Z., McCarthy N.D., Kao R.R., Demographic risk factors for classical and atypical scrapie in Great Britain, J. Gen. Virol. (2007) 88:3486–3492.
- [30] Gubbins S., Simmons M.M., Sivam K., Webb C.R., Hoinville L.J., Prevalence of scrapie infection in Great Britain: interpreting the results of the 1997–1998 abattoir survey, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B (2003) 270:1919–1924.
- [31] Gubbins S., A modelling framework to describe the spread of scrapie between sheep flocks in Great Britain, Prev. Vet. Med. (2005) 67:143–156.
- [32] Gubbins S., Webb C.R., Simulation of the options for a national control programme to eradicate scrapie from Great Britain, Prev. Vet. Med. (2005) 69:175–187.
- [33] Gubbins S., Roden J.A., Breeding programmes for TSE resistance in British sheep. II. Assessing the impact on the prevalence and incidence of scrapie, Prev. Vet. Med. (2006) 73:17–31.
- [34] Gubbins S., Clark A.M., Eglin R.D., Sivam S.K., Results of a postal survey of scrapie in the Shetland Isles in 2003, Vet. Rec. (2006) 158:255–260.
- [35] Gubbins S., Prevalence of sheep infected with classical scrapie in Great Britain: integrating multiple sources of surveillance data for 2002, J. R. Soc. Interface (2008) 5:1343–1351.
- [36] Gubbins S., McIntyre K.M., Prevalence of sheep infected with classical scrapie in Great Britain, 1993–2007, Epidemiol. Infect. (2009) 137:787–791.
- [37] Hagenaars T.J., Donnelly C.A., Ferguson N.M., Anderson R.M., The transmission dynamics of the aetiological agent of scrapie in a sheep flock, Math. Biosci. (2000) 168:117–135.
- [38] Hagenaars T.J., Ferguson N.M., Donnelly C.A., Anderson R.M., Persistence patterns of scrapie in a sheep flock, Epidemiol. Infect. (2001) 127:157–167.
- [39] Hagenaars T.J., Donnelly C.A., Ferguson N.M., Anderson R.M., Dynamics of a scrapie outbreak in a

- flock of Romanov sheep estimation of transmission parameters, Epidemiol, Infect. (2003) 131:1015–1022.
- [40] Hagenaars T.J., Donnelly C.A., Ferguson N.M., Epidemiological analysis of data for scrapie in Great Britain, Epidemiol. Infect. (2006) 134:359–367.
- [41] Healy A.M., Hannon D., Morgan K.L., Weavers E., Collins J.D., Doherty M.L., A paired case-control study of risk factors for scrapie in Irish sheep flocks, Prev. Vet. Med. (2004) 64:73–83.
- [42] Hoinville L.J., A review of the epidemiology of scrapie in sheep, Rev. Sci. Tech. Off. Int. Epizoot. (1996) 15:827–852.
- [43] Hopp P., Ulvund M.J., Jarp J., A case-control study on scrapie in Norwegian sheep flocks, Prev. Vet. Med. (2001) 51:183–198.
- [44] Hopp P., Webb C.R., Jarp J., Monte Carlo simulation of surveillance strategies for scrapie in Norwegian sheep, Prev. Vet. Med. (2003) 61:103–125.
- [45] Houston F., Goldmann W., Chong A., Jeffrey M., Gonzalez L., Foster J., et al., BSE in sheep bred for resistance to infection, Nature (2003) 423:498.
- [46] Hunter N., Cairns D., Scrapie-free Merino and Poll Dorset sheep from Australia and New Zealand have normal frequencies of scrapie-susceptible PrP genotypes, J. Gen. Virol. (1998) 79:2079–2082.
- [47] Hunter N., Scrapie uncertainties, biology and molecular approaches, Biochim. Biophys. Acta (2007) 1772:619–628.
- [48] Jeffrey M., Martin S., Thomson J.R., Dingwall W.S., Bagara-McGorum I., Gonzalez L., Onset and distribution of PrP accumulation in scrapie-affected Suffolk sheep as demonstrated by sequential necropsies and tonsillar biopsies, J. Comp. Pathol. (2001) 125:48–57.
- [49] Jeffrey M., Martin J., Gonzalez L., Foster J., Langeveld J.P.M., van Zijderveld F., et al., Immuno-histochemical features of PrP^d accumulation in natural and experimental goat transmissible spongiform encephalopathies, J. Comp. Pathol. (2005) 134: 171–181.
- [50] Kao R.R., Gravenor M.B., McLean A.R., Modelling the national scrapie eradication programme in the UK, Math. Biosci. (2001) 174:61–76.
- [51] Kao R.R., Gravenor M.B., Baylis M., Bostock C.J., Chihota C.M., Evans J.C., et al., The potential size and duration of an epidemic of bovine spongiform encephalopathy in British sheep, Science (2002) 295:332–335.
- [52] Kao R.R., Houston F., Baylis M., Chihota C.M., Goldmann W., Gravenor M.B., et al., Epidemiological

- implications of the susceptibility to BSE of putatively resistant sheep, J. Gen. Virol. (2003) 84:3503–3512.
- [53] Kao R.R., Green D.M., Johnson J., Kiss I.Z., Disease dynamics over very different time-scales: foot-and-mouth disease and scrapie on the network of livestock movements in the UK, J. R. Soc. Interface (2007) 4:907–916.
- [54] Konold T., Moore S.J., Bellworthy S.J., Simmons H.A., Evidence of scrapic transmission via milk, BMC Vet. Res. (2008) 4:14.
- [55] Krebs J.R., May R.M., Stumpf M.P.H., Theoretical models of sheep BSE reveal possibilities, Nature (2002) 415:115.
- [56] Man W.Y.N., Nicholls N., Woolhouse M.E.J., Lewis R.M., Villanueva B., Evaluating different PrP genotype selection strategies for expected severity of scrapie outbreaks and genetic progress in performance in commercial sheep, Prev. Vet. Med. (2009) 91: 161–171.
- [57] Matthews L., Woolhouse M.E.J., Hunter N., The basic reproduction number for scrapie, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B (1999) 266:1085–1090.
- [58] Matthews L., Coen P.G., Foster J.D., Hunter N., Woolhouse M.E.J., Population dynamics of a scrapie outbreak, Arch. Virol. (2001) 146:1173–1186.
- [59] McIntyre K.M., Gubbins S., Sivam S.K., Baylis M., Flock-level risk factors for scrapie in Great Britain: analysis of a 2002 anonymous postal survey, BMC Vet. Res. (2006) 2:25.
- [60] McIntyre K.M., Gubbins S., Goldmann W., Stevenson E., Baylis M., The time-course of a scrapie outbreak, BMC Vet. Res. (2006) 2:20.
- [61] McIntyre K.M., Gubbins S., Goldmann W., Hunter N., Baylis M., Epidemiological characteristics of classical scrapie outbreaks in 30 sheep flocks in the United Kingdom, PLoS ONE (2008) 3:e3994.
- [62] McLean A.R., Hoek A., Hoinville L.J., Gravenor M.B., Scrapie transmission in Britain: a recipe for a mathematical model, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B (1999) 266:2531–2538.
- [63] Medley G., Predicting the unpredictable, Science (2001) 294:1663–1664.
- [64] O'Rourke K.I., Duncan J.V., Logan J.R., Anderson A.K., Norden D.K., Williams E.S., et al., Active surveillance for scrapie by third eyelid biopsy and genetic susceptibility testing of flocks of sheep in Wyoming, Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol. (2002) 9: 966–971.

- [65] Ortiz-Pelaez A., del Rio Vilas V.J., Withinholding prevalence of sheep classical scrapie in Great Britain, BMC Vet. Res. (2009) 5:1.
- [66] Sabatier P., Durand B., Dubois M.A., Ducrot C., Calavas D., Van de Wille A., Multiscale modelling of scrapie epidemiology. I. Herd level: a discrete model of disease transmission in a sheep flock, Ecol. Mod. (2004) 180:233–252.
- [67] St Rose S.G., Hunter N., Matthews L., Foster J.D., Chase-Topping M.E., Kruuk L.E.B., et al., Comparative evidence for a link between Peyer's patch development and susceptibility to transmissible spongiform encephalopathies, BMC Infect. Dis. (2006) 6:5.
- [68] Schreuder B.E.C., van Keulen L.J.M., Vromans M.E.W., Langeveld J.P.M., Smits M.A., Tonsillar biopsy and PrP^{Sc} detection in the preclinical diagnosis of scrapie, Vet. Rec. (1998) 142:564–568.
- [69] Stack M.J., Jeffery M., Gubbins S., Grimmer S., Gonzalez L., Martin S., et al., Monitoring for bovine spongiform encephalopathy in sheep in Great Britain, 1998–2004, J. Gen. Virol. (2006) 87:2099–2107.
- [70] Stamp J.T., Scrapie: a transmissible disease of sheep, Vet. Rec. (1962) 74:357–362.
- [71] Stringer S.M., Hunter N., Woolhouse M.E.J., A mathematical model of the dynamics of scrapie in a sheep flock, Math. Biosci. (1998) 153:79–98.
- [72] Sweeney T., Hanrahan J.P., The evidence of associations between prion protein genotype and production, reproduction and health traits in sheep, Vet. Res. (2008) 39:28.
- [73] Tongue S.C., Pfeiffer D.U., Warner R., Elliott H., del Rio Vilas V.J., Estimation of the relative risk for developing clinical scrapie: the role of prion protein (PrP) genotype and selection bias, Vet. Rec. (2006) 158:43–50.
- [74] Touzeau S., Chase-Topping M.E., Matthews L., Lajous D., Eychenne F., Hunter N., et al., Modelling the spread of scrapie in a sheep flock: evidence for increased transmission during lambing seasons, Arch. Virol. (2006) 151:735–751.
- [75] Truscott J.E., Ferguson N.M., Transmission dynamics and mechanisms of endemicity of scrapie in the UK sheep population, Epidemiol. Infect. (2009) 137:762–774.
- [76] Truscott J.E., Ferguson N.M., Control of scrapie in the UK sheep population, Epidemiol. Infect. (2009) 137:775–786.

- [77] Van Keulen L.J.M., Vromans M.E.W., van Zijderveld F.G., Early and late pathogenesis of natural scrapie infection in sheep, APMIS (2002) 110:23–32.
- [78] Webb C.R., Wilesmith J.W., Simmons M.M., Hoinville L.J., A stochastic model to estimate the prevalence of scrapie in Great Britain using the results of an abattoir-based survey, Prev. Vet. Med. (2001) 51:269–287.
- [79] Woolhouse M.E.J., Stringer S.M., Matthews L., Hunter N., Anderson R.M., Epidemiology and control of scrapie within a sheep flock, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B (1998) 265:1205–1210.
- [80] Woolhouse M.E.J., Matthews L., Coen P., Stringer S.M., Foster J.D., Hunter N., Population dynamics of scrapie in a sheep flock, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. (1999) 354:751–756.